IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN CROCKER, et al.,

CASE NO. 95,148 4th DCA # 98-00633

Petitioners,

vs.

RICHARD PLEASANT, etc., et al.,

Respondents.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF

V. LYNN WHITFIELD, ESQ. Whitfield & Mosley 224 Datura Street, Suite 918 P.O. Box 34 West Palm Beach, FL 33402 (561) 833-2213 ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONERS Florida Bar No. 314021

DEA ABRAMSCHMITT, ESQ. Lakeshore Ofc. Park, Suite 224 2669 Forest Hill Blvd. West Palm Beach, FL 33406 (561) 649-8640 APPELLATE CO-COUNSEL FOR PETITIONERS Florida Bar No. 84506

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In accordance with the Florida Supreme Court Administrative Order, issued on July 13, 1998, and modeled after Rule 28-2(d), Rules of the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit, counsel for Petitioners hereby certifies that the instant brief has been prepared with 12 point Courier New type, a font that is not spaced proportionately.

The Petitioners' appendix will be designated by "PA," and the record below will be designated by "R".

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The tragic facts of this case, as set forth in Petitioners' complaint, are as follows:

On December 5, 1995, West Palm Beach police officer Pleasant (a defendant below) was assigned to investigate an unidentified burning death. (R. 41; PA. 7) Within three days, December 8, 1995, Pleasant identified the decedent as Jay Crocker and was given Crocker's high school transcripts from which Pleasant acquired the name, address and telephone number of Crocker's parents, John and Betty Crocker (Petitioners). (R. 41; PA. 7) Pleasant thereupon sent a teletype to the Miami Shores Police Department requesting that they contact the Petitioners and have them call him. Pleasant did not apprise Miami Shores that this was a death notification. (R. 41; PA. 7)

Miami Shores Police Department immediately tried to contact the Petitioners, but there was no one home. (R. 41; PA. 7) Upon Miami Shores advising Pleasant of this, he then sent Miami Shores a second teletype stating that no extra effort to contact the Petitioners in person was necessary and that a note to Petitioners, asking them to contact Pleasant, would suffice. (R. 41-2; PA. 7-8) Deplorably, Pleasant still did not inform Miami Shores that this related to a death. (R. 41, 42; PA. 7, 8) After this perfunctory effort to notify the Petitioners on

December 8, 1995, Pleasant made no further effort, whatsoever, to notify Petitioners of their son's death. (R. 42; PA. 8)

Sometime between December 8, 1995 and March 30, 1996, Crocker's body was turned over to a Palm Beach County (County/Respondent) facility for burial as an unclaimed body. (R. 42; PA. 8) Although section 245.07, Florida Statutes (1995) requires the County/Respondent to make a reasonable effort to identify the body and notify the next of kin, it made no such effort to contact Petitioners. (R. 42, PA. 8) Consequently, Jay Crocker was buried in an unmarked, pauper's grave, unknown to his parents.

Petitioners had been continuously searching for their son, distributing flyers with his picture on them all over the area. (R. 42; PA. 8) Around February 25, 1996 (and prior to Jay Crocker's burial), Petitioners filed a missing person's report, which was entered into the national system. (R. 42; PA. 8) Although the City of West Palm Beach's Police Department (City/Respondent) had access to this national system, the missing person's report brought no results. (R. 42-43; PA. 8-9) At last, on June 1, 1996, Petitioners learned that their son had worked in West Palm Beach. After contacting their son's previous employer, Petitioners finally learned the horrible news that their son had been dead for six months. (R. 43; PA. 9)

Petitioners thereupon filed suit against Pleasant, the City of West Palm Beach, and Palm Beach County. (R. 40-49; PA. 7-15) The complaint alleged, against Pleasant, tortious interference with their right to their son's body and outrageous conduct. Counts III and IV alleged section 1983 claims for interference with a protected property interest in Jay Crocker's body, without due process, in violation of the fourteenth amendment. (R. 44-49; PA. 10-15)

Both the City and County Respondents filed motions for a judgment on the pleadings, claiming that Petitioners complaint failed to state a cause of action under section 1983 because Petitioners had no property interest in their son's body. (R. 74-7, 87-9) The trial court, agreeing that Petitioners' had no constitutionally protected property right in their son's body, granted both Respondents' motion for a judgment on the pleadings and issued a final judgment in favor of the Respondents. (R. 93-4, 95-100; PA. 4-5) Petitioners appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeal. (R. 101)

The Fourth District reviewed the federal cases which hold that there is, in fact, a constitutionally protected property interest in the decedent's remains, but reluctantly decided that Petitioners could not bring a section 1983 claim in Florida because these federal cases conflicted with <u>Powell</u>. <u>Crocker v.</u>

<u>Pleasant</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D585 (Fla. 4th DCA March 3, 1999) (PA. 2) The Fourth observed, however, that the misconduct alleged in the instant case was much more egregious than the claim in <u>Powell</u>. (PA. 2) But, because of the "broad holding of our supreme court in <u>Powell</u> that the claimants in that case had 'no protectable liberty or property interest' in the decedent's body", the Fourth felt it was obliged to affirm the judgment on the pleadings. (PA. 2)

Nevertheless, upon making that decision, the Fourth then wrote that, "[w]e conclude, however, that our supreme court should determine whether <u>Powell</u> is limited to corneal removal or precludes section 1983 actions where the interference with burial is more egregious", and certified the following question as being one of great public importance:

DOES <u>POWELL</u> PRECLUDE ALL SECTION 1983 CLAIMS GROUNDED ON INTERFERENCE WITH AN INTEREST IN A DEAD BODY?

(PA. 2-3) Petitioners immediately filed Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction with this Court and this appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

<u>Powell</u>, decided in 1986, should not be read to preclude all section 1983 claims grounded on interference with a dead body because <u>Powell</u>'s language was overbroad considering the narrow issue it was deciding, and because federal courts have subsequently held that the next of kin do have a property interest in a decedent's body sufficient to bring a section 1983 claim. <u>Powell</u> did not include a section 1983 claim, but involved the question of whether Florida's Anatomical Gift Act was constitutional. It was not necessary for the supreme court to make the sweeping statement that there was not a property or liberty interest in a dead body in order to find the statute constitutional.

Furthermore, the interference with the dead body alleged in <u>Powell</u> was the relatively minor one of removing the body's corneas without the consent of the next of kin, an act which was sanctioned by the Anatomical Gift Act. Here, the interference was the reprehensible actions of the Respondents in failing to notify the Petitioners that their son had died (even though they had Petitioners names, address, and phone number), resulting in months of anguish for Petitioners as they searched for him in vain, only to finally learn (through their own sources) that

their son had been long dead and buried. This goes well beyond the mere removal of a body's corneas.

Interpreting <u>Powell</u> to ban all section 1983 claims based upon interference with a dead body would leave many aggrieved parties, such as Petitioners, without a remedy. Section 1983 was enacted just for situations such as this, where the interference was done under color of state law and consisted of a protected right of liberty or property. Florida's case law, as well as statutory law, provides numerous examples of the rights and interests the next of kin has in the remains of their loved ones. Certainly, Florida's laws mirror those of Ohio and Michigan, where the Sixth Circuit determined that the respective state laws did provide a property interest sufficient to bring a claim under section 1983. Whether or not the rules, understandings, and laws of a state comprise a constitutionally protected property right is a question of federal law. Thus, a Florida state case should not be the final authority on the issue of whether the next of kin can bring a section 1983 claim grounded on interference with their property interest in the body of a decedent. Petitioners urge that this Court answer the Fourth District's certified question in the negative.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED BY HOLDING THAT <u>POWELL</u> PRECLUDED A SECTION 1983 CLAIM AND AFFIRMING THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING WHEN <u>POWELL</u> WAS DECIDED PRIOR TO FEDERAL DECISIONS AND WHEN THE ISSUE IN <u>POWELL</u> WAS DISTINCT FROM THE ISSUE AT BAR.

As Justice Shaw indicated in his dissenting opinion, Powell's [majority] language was much too broad considering the narrow issue that was before it. State v. Powell, 497 So. 2d 1188, 1195 (Fla. 1986) Although the language in <u>Powell</u> seems to imply that section 1983 claims are barred when grounded on a claim of property interest in a dead body, <u>Powell</u> did not even include a 1983 claim. In deciding Powell, the supreme court's primary concern appeared to be the policy implications and the consequences of finding Florida's Anatomical Gift Statute unconstitutional. However, this court could have readily upheld the statute without also stating that there was no property interest in a dead body. Reading Powell to bar all 1983 claims is too broad an interpretation. Given the decisions of the more recent federal circuit courts, Petitioners ask that this Court recede from its decision in Powell insofar as its language concerning the nonexistence of the next of kin's property interest in their loved one's remains.

A. <u>POWELL</u>'S ANALYSIS OF WHETHER THE NEXT OF KIN HAD A PROPERTY INTEREST IN THE DEAD BODY DID NOT HAVE THE BENEFIT OF THE MORE RECENT FEDERAL DECISIONS ON THAT QUESTION.

Although the Fourth District Court of Appeal found that the facts of the instant case were much more egregious than those of <u>Powell</u>, it held that it must affirm the trial court's granting of the judgment on the pleadings because of "the broad holding of our supreme court in <u>Powell</u> that the claimants in that case had 'no protectable liberty or property interest' in the decedent's body." <u>Crocker v. Pleasant</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D585 (Fla. 4th DCA March 3, 1999) (PA. 2) It then stated that the supreme court should determine whether <u>Powell</u> was limited to corneal removal or whether it precluded all section 1983 claims where the defendant's interference with a dead body was much more egregious. <u>Id.</u> (PA. 2-3) The Fourth concluded with certifying the following question as one of great public importance:

DOES <u>POWELL</u> PRECLUDE ALL SECTION 1983 CLAIMS GROUNDED ON INTERFERENCE WITH AN INTEREST IN A DEAD BODY?

<u>Id.</u> (PA. 3)

Petitioners allege that the district court erred in holding that <u>Powell</u> mandated it affirm the trial court's decision because the issue of whether there is a protected property interest in a dead body sufficient to support a section 1983 claim has been

definitively answered by the Sixth Circuit. Whaley v. County of Tuscola, 58 F.3d 1111 (6th Cir. 1995); Brotherton v. Cleveland, 923 F.2d 477 (6th Cir. 1991). Furthermore, the Sixth Circuit expressly stated that such a question was a matter of federal law, not state. Brotherton, 923 F.2d at 481-82. The Fourth District should not have read <u>Powell</u>'s language as precluding all 1983 claims, especially since there was not a section 1983 claim brought in <u>Powell</u>. Additionally, the Fourth should have looked to federal precedent, rather than state, in deciding whether a section 1983 claim could be sustained in Florida because such an issue is one of federal interpretation.

A thorough scrutiny of <u>Powell</u>'s reasoning is instructive. A close reading of <u>Powell</u>'s analysis leading up to its finding that there was "no protectable liberty or property interest in the remains [of a dead body]" reveals that it based its finding on its belief that "[a]ll authorities generally agree that the next of kin have no property right in the remains of a decedent." <u>Powell</u>, 497 So. 2d at 1191, 1193. This Court also stated that "[t]he view that the next of kin has no property right . . . is universally accepted by courts and commentators." <u>Id.</u> at 1192. While this may have been the case in 1986, it certainly is not true today. (And, in fact, it was not even true when <u>Powell</u> was decided, as <u>Fuller</u> was decided in 1984. <u>Fuller v. Marx</u>, 724 F.2d

717, 719 (8th Cir. 1984)) Not only have the Fifth, Sixth, and Eighth Circuits specifically found that constitutionally protected property rights in the remains of a dead body exist in Louisiana, Ohio, Michigan, and Arkansas, numerous states, themselves, have found that some type of property interests exist. <u>Whaley</u>, 58 F.3d 1111; <u>Brotherton</u>, 923 F.2d 477; <u>Arnaud v.</u> <u>Odom</u>, 870 F.2d 304 (5th Cir. 1989); <u>Fuller</u>, 724 F.2d 717. Many states label this interest as a "quasi-property right". <u>Brotherton</u>, 923 F.2d at 480; <u>Arnaud</u>, 870 F.2d at 308 (Louisiana has established a "quasi-property" right of survivors in remains of their deceased relatives); <u>Fuller</u>, 724 F.2d at 719 ("Under Arkansas law, the next of kin does have a quasi-property right in a dead body.")

Florida, itself, recognizes a right of possession of a body for the purpose of burial, a right to bring a tort claim for mishandling a corpse, and the right of the next of kin to donate or refuse to donate the deceased's body's organs. <u>Williams v.</u> <u>City Minneola</u>, 575 So. 2d 683, 690 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) (cause of action exists for reckless infliction of emotional distress resulting from outrageous conduct involving photos of dead body); <u>Halpin v. Kraeer Funeral Homes, Inc.</u>, 547 So. 2d 973 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) (claim of intentional infliction of emotional distress because of interference with a dead body exempt from impact

rule); <u>Kirker v. Orange County</u>, 519 So. 2d 682 (Fla. 1988) (right of action for mutilation of dead body is based on right of next of kin to bury body in the condition found when life became extinct); <u>Kirksey v. Jernigan</u>, 45 So. 2d 188 (Fla. 1950) (invasion of right of next of kin to have possession of the body of deceased person is an actionable wrong). Section 732.917, Florida Statutes (1995), provides that, if an anatomical gift is made, the rest of the body vests in the next of kin. Section 245.08, Florida Statutes (1995), requires a body to be surrendered for burial to any relative, by blood or marriage, who claims it.

Justice Shaw's dissent in <u>Powell</u> enumerated the various rights to a loved one's body the Florida legislature had accorded to the next of kin and concluded that it was "simply not legally possible nor permissible to donate or control the donation of an article which does not belong to the donor." <u>Powell</u>, 497 So. 2d at 1198. J. Shaw ended his dissent with the warning that decisions about the rights, duties and privileges of the next of kin were likely to become "even more intense as medical science advances and organ transplants increase in number." <u>Id.</u> Time has proven the accuracy of J. Shaw's prediction. Thus, the majority's reasoning upon which <u>Powell</u> concluded that the next of kin had no property interest in the body of their deceased, even

if appropriate at that time, is no longer valid today.

The federal cases of <u>Whaley</u> and <u>Brotherton</u> combine elements of both the instant case and <u>Powell</u>. Consequently, the Fourth District should have accorded them the weight they deserved and based their decision on this federal law. Like <u>Powell</u>, Brotherton involved a claim brought because of unauthorized cornea removal from the body of the claimant's husband. Brotherton, 923 F.2d 477, 478 (6th Cir. 1991). Upon her husband's death, the wife was asked if she wanted to make an anatomical gift of her husband's body, but she refused. Because the husband's death was considered a possible suicide, his body was autopsied. Id. After the autopsy was done, the coroner permitted the corneas to be removed and used as anatomical gifts. The wife learned of their removal upon reading the autopsy report. Id. Ohio's Anatomical Gift Statute, like Florida's, allows the removal of a corpse's corneas if the removing agent knows of no objection of the deceased's next of kin. Id. The wife filed suit alleging that her husband's corneas were removed in violation of due process of law (a section 1983 claim, like the one at bar.) Id. at 478-79. The federal district court dismissed her claim, finding that she had no property interest in her husband's body. Id. at 479.

The Sixth Circuit correctly began by describing the three

prerequisites of the due process claim as being: (1) deprivation; (2) of property; and (3) under color of state law. Id. It stated that due process only protected those interests where one has a legitimate claim of entitlement. Id. at 480. The Sixth went on explain that it must look to Ohio's state laws to determine whether the wife's interest in her husband's body rose to the level of a legitimate claim of entitlement, since property interests are created, and their dimensions defined, by "existing rules or understandings" stemming from state law. Id. After remarking that a majority of courts have found that quasiproperty rights exist, it noted that there was no question that Ohio granted a possessory right of a spouse or other next of kin to a deceased body for the purpose of preparation, mourning, and burial. Id. at 481.

Brotherton found that the concept of property was extremely broad and abstract, where "property" most often referred not to just a physical object, but to a legal "bundle of rights" recognized in an object. This bundle of rights included such things as the right to possess, use, exclude, profit and dispose. <u>Id.</u> Reviewing both English and American legal history, the court held that the prevailing view of both legal systems were that the next of kin have a quasi-property right in the body of the deceased for purposes of burial or other lawful disposition. <u>Id.</u>

Echoing J. Shaw, the Sixth Circuit declared that the human body was a valuable resource and stated that, "The importance of establishing rights in a dead body has been, and will continue to be, magnified by scientific advancements." <u>Id.</u>

Finally, and most importantly for our discussion, the Sixth Circuit pronounced:

Thankfully, we do not need to determine whether the Supreme Court of Ohio would categorize the interest in the dead body granted to the spouse as property, quasiproperty or not property. Although the existence of an interest may be a matter of state law, whether that interest rises to the level of a "legitimate claim of entitlement" protected by the due process clause is determined by federal law. This determination does not rest on the label attached to a right granted by the state but rather on the substance of that right.

<u>Id.</u> at 481-82 (emphasis added). Finding that Ohio's Anatomical Gift Act expressly granted the right of the wife to control the disposal of her husband's body, and that Ohio also granted her a possessory right to his body, the circuit court held that:

Although extremely regulated, in sum, these rights form a substantial interest in the dead body, regardless of Ohio's classification of that interest. We hold the aggregate of rights granted by the state of Ohio to Deborah Brotherton rises to the level of a "legitimate claim of entitlement" in Steven Brotherton's body, including his corneas, protected by the due process clause of the fourteenth amendment.

<u>Id.</u> at 482.

Like <u>Brotherton</u>, <u>Whaley</u> also involved a section 1983 claim arising from the unauthorized removal or corneas or eyeballs from

the deceased. Whaley v. County of Tuscola, 58 F.3d 1111 (6th Cir. 1995). The issue before the Sixth was whether Michigan law provided the next of kin with a constitutionally protected property interest in the relative's body. The district court had ruled that the plaintiffs did not have such an interest, but the Sixth Circuit reversed. <u>Id.</u> at 1112. Stating, as it did in <u>Brotherton</u>, that the Constitution did not create property interests, the circuit court examined Michigan's state laws. <u>Id.</u> at 1113-114. <u>Whaley</u> echoed <u>Brotherton</u>'s language when it declared that:

whether a substantive interest created by the state rises to the level of a constitutionally protected property interest is a question of federal constitutional law. In making this determination, courts must look beyond the law's nomenclature and to its substance.

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