IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 95,148 DISTRICT COURT CASE NO. 98-00633 CIRCUIT COURT CASE NO. CL-96-8738 AD

JOHN CROCKER and BETTY CROCKER,

Petitioners,

vs.

CITY OF WEST PALM BEACH and PALM BEACH COUNTY,

Respondents.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT CITY OF WEST PALM BEACH

Patrick N. Brown, City Attorney Bar No. 099037 Claudia M. McKenna, Deputy City Attorney Bar No. 520586 Mayra I. Rivera-Delgado, Asst. City Attorney Bar No. 0130370 City of West Palm Beach 200 Second Street West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (561) 659-8017

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

Id. at 634, citing <u>Rosenblum v. New Mt. Sinai Cemetery Association</u>, 481 S.W.2d 593, 594-595 (Mo. App. 1972)(Emphasis supplied). The Eighth Circuit upheld the district court's conclusion that there was "no liability under the civil rights law" when physicians or coroners have acted within the permissible discretion of their authority and there was no allegation that the defendants acted outside that permissible scope. <u>Id</u>. at 635.

In deciding <u>Powell</u>, this Court obviously had the benefit of a federal decision. While that effectively negates Petitioners' argument to the contrary, there is a more important distinction to be made. <u>Powell</u> relied on and cited authorities that represented the prevailing view in 1986 and continue to represent the prevailing view today. <u>Powell</u>, at 1192.

In 1986, this Court could also have relied on reasoning from the Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals in <u>Ravellette v. Smith</u>, 300 F.2d 854 (7th Cir. 1962), where the court characterized a next of kin's interest in a dead body as follows:

> ...'while there cannot be said to be property in the bodies of the dead in the general sense of property, they are the subject of rights which the courts ought to and will respect by proper actions.' It appears from the cases cited in Orr and other cases that the rights which the courts will respect are the right to possession and custody of the body for burial, the right to have the body remain undisturbed in its sepulcher, and the right to maintain an action to recover damages for any outrage or indignity to the body.

Thus, consistent with the holding in Meek, plaintiff's interest in decedent's body is only a limited interest which is considered to be in the nature of a property right for burial purposes and for allowing recovery for outrages committed against the body. We hold that the taking of a blood sample without plaintiff's consent was not a violation of a protected property interest within the meaning of Article 1, Section 11 of the Indiana Constitution.

<u>Id</u>. at 858.

Today, this Court need only consider the authorities it reviewed in 1986 as well as the legion of authorities that have followed the prevailing view announced in <u>Powell</u>. See, e.g. <u>Riley</u> v. St. Louis County, 153 F.3d 627 (8th Cir. 1998); Shults v. U.S., 995 F.Supp. 1270 (D. Kan. 1998); Culpepper v. Pearl Street Bldg. Inc., 877 P.2d 877 (Colo. 1994); Brown v. Matthews Mortuary, Inc., 801 P.2d 37 (Idaho, 1990); Contreras v. Michelotti Sawyers, 896 P.2d 1118 (Mont. 1995); <u>Roach v. Stern</u>, 675 N.Y.S.2d 133 (N.Y. 1998); Jobin v. McQuillen, 609 A.2d 990 (Vt. 1992); Scarpaci v. Milwaukee County, 292 N.W.2d 816 (Wis. 1980); Ramirez v. Health Partners of South Arizona, 972 P.2d 658 (Ariz. App. 1998), rev. denied, March 19, 1999; Massey v. Duke University, 503 S.E. 2d 155 (N.C.App. 1998); Lanigan v. Snowden, 938 S.W.2d 330 (Mo.Ct.App. 1997); <u>Walser v. Resthaven Memorial Gardens, Inc.</u>, 633 A.2d 466 (Md.App. 1992), cert. denied, 638 A.2d 753 (Md. 1994); Dampier v.

and

<u>Wayne County</u>, 1999 WL 55150 (Mich. App. 1999)(to be reported at 592 N.W.2d 809).

As explained by the Idaho Supreme Court in Brown, supra:

In the early cases dealing with the mishandling of dead bodies, most courts based the cause of action on interference with a "property right" to the body, usually in the next of kin... However, as time went on courts began to disregard the property right basis for recovery and began to recognize that the tort is in reality the infliction of mental distress.

(citing Prosser, <u>Law of Torts</u>, relied on and cited by this Court in <u>Powell</u>).

In <u>Culpepper</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Colorado Supreme Court further explained the evolution from quasi-property right to tort as follows:

> Historically, the notion of a quasi-property right arose to facilitate recovery for the negligent mishandling of a dead body. If the plaintiff could show that his property right had been harmed, he would avoid the burden of proving that his emotional distress was accompanied by physical injury. In reality, however, the primary concern of the right is not the injury to the dead body itself, but whether the improper actions caused emotional or physical pain or suffering to surviving family members. The injury is seldom pecuniary; rather, damages are grounded in the mental and physical injuries of survivors.

877 P.2d at 880.

This Court's decision in <u>Powell</u> is consistent with the modern trend recognized by an overwhelming majority of courts. There simply is no justification for substituting this Court's amply supported decision in <u>Powell</u> with the limited minority view that Petitioners advance.

B. THE FEDERAL DECISION ON WHICH PETITIONERS PRIMARILY RELY IS A DEPARTURE FROM REQUIRED SECTION 1983 ANALYSIS AND IGNORES UNDERLYING STATE LAW.

Petitioners urge this Court to abandon its decision in <u>Powell</u> and adopt instead the reasoning of the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeal in <u>Brotherton v. Cleveland</u>, 923 F.2d 447 (6th Cir. 1991) and <u>Whaley v. County of Tuscola</u>, 58 F.3d 111 (6th Cir. 1995). A close reading of each of these decisions reveals that the Sixth Circuit departed from the required constitutional analysis to determine Section 1983 liability and simply ignored underlying state law.

In <u>Brotherton</u>, the decedent's wife appealed the dismissal of her Section 1983 claim for wrongful removal of her deceased husband's corneas. The district court dismissed her complaint after determining that Ohio does not give a surviving custodian a property interest in the body of a decedent. Id. at 479.

The Sixth Circuit correctly acknowledged that to determine whether Deborah Brotherton had a "legitimate claim of entitlement" to her husband's corneas, it must look to state law. <u>Id</u>. As instructed by the United States Supreme Court in <u>Board of Regents</u> <u>v. Roth</u>, 408 U.S. 564, 92 S.Ct. 2701, 33 L.Ed.2d 548 (1972):

Property interests, of course, are not created by the Constitution. Rather, they are created and their

dimensions are defined by existing rules or understandings that stem from an independent source such as state law — rules or understandings that secure certain benefits and that support claims of entitlement to those benefits.²

<u>Roth</u>, at 577, <u>Brotherton</u> at 480, citing to only a portion of the Court's statement quoted above.

The Ohio Supreme Court had not ruled on the "precise issue" according to the court of appeals. Significantly, two Ohio appellate courts had expressly "avoided characterizing" the nature of the right in a dead body as a quasi-property right. <u>Id</u>. At 480. <u>See, also Carney v. Knollwood Cemetery Ass'n</u>, 33 Ohio App.3d 31,514 N.E.2d 430 (1986) and <u>Everman v. Davis</u>, 54 Ohio App.3d, 561 N.E.2d 547 (1989).

In <u>Carney</u>, the appellate court said that calling the right to control the dead body of a relative a "quasi property right" would create a legal fiction and:

> This court rejects the theory that a surviving custodian has quasi-property rights in the body of the deceased, and acknowledges the cause of action for mishandling of

²See also Mitchell v. W.T. Grant Company, 416 U.S. 600, 604 (1974)("the definition of property rights is a matter of state law"); and <u>Phillips v. Washington Legal Foundation</u>, 524 U.S. 156, _____, 118 S.Ct. 1925, 1930 (1998)("Because the constitution protects, rather than creates, property interests, the existence of a property interest is determined by reference to 'existing rules or understandings that stem from an independent source such as state law.")

a dead body as a subspecies of the tort of infliction of emotional distress.

<u>Carney</u>, at 37, quoted in <u>Brotherton</u> at 480. The <u>Carney</u> appellate court did determine that the appellees had standing to bring a claim for "outrageous disturbance" of the decedent's remains.

Similarly, in Everman, the appellate court said:

There is no issue in this case of the possessory right of a spouse or other appropriate member of the family of a deceased for the purposes of preparation, mourning and burial. This right is recognized by law and by the decisions. This is not to say that a person has a property right in the body of another, living or dead or that a corpse may not be temporarily held for investigation as to the true cause of death.

Brotherton, at 480,481, citing Everman at 122.

Rejecting both these statements of Ohio law, the Sixth Circuit

said, instead:

Thankfully, we do not need to determine whether the Supreme Court of Ohio would categorize the interest in the dead body granted to the spouse as property, quasiproperty or not property. Although the existence of an interest may be a matter of state law, whether that interest rises to the level of a 'legitimate claim of entitlement' protected by the due process clause is determined by federal law. (Emphasis supplied.)

Based on this inexplicable departure from Section 1983 state law analysis, the court held that "the aggregate of rights granted by the state of Ohio to Deborah Brotherton" rises to the level of a legitimate claim of entitlement in Steven Brotherton's body,

including his corneas, protected by the due process clause of the fourteenth amendment. <u>Id</u>. at 482.

The dissent did not mince words. Citing Ohio authority dating back to 1893, Senior District Judge Joiner said: "Ohio law has made it very clear that there is no property right in a dead person's body." Id. at 483. The dissent concluded by saying that:

> Thus, the court is wrong in its holding that the procedural requisites for dealing with non-property can to become property and be protected by the rise fourteenth amendment. Nor can the grant of procedures to enhance the health and well being of others in society and the imposition of duties on persons (coroners or hospitals) grant property rights protected by the fourteenth amendment in favor of the decedent's relatives.

<u>Id</u>. at 484. As noted above, <u>Powell</u> is also cited in the <u>Brotherton</u> dissent, together with a case decided by the Georgia Supreme Court. According to the dissent, these cases are "clearly correct, as it is hard to envision a 'property' right in another person's remains." <u>Id</u>. at 483.

Four years after <u>Brotherton</u>, the Sixth Circuit rendered the second opinion Petitioners ask this Court to adopt. <u>See</u>, <u>Whaley</u>, <u>supra</u>. This Section 1983 case involved removal of corneal tissue under a Michigan state law. In this instance, the Sixth Circuit indicated that the existence of a property interest for due process

purposes depends "in large part" on state law. <u>Id</u>. at 1113, 1114. Then the court went on to say:

> All parties agree that the existence under Michigan law of a constitutionally protected property interest in a dead relative's body turns on our opinion in Brotherton v. Cleveland, 923 F.2d 477 (6th Cir. 1991) where we found that such a property interest exists in Ohio.

<u>Id</u>. Once again, the district court dismissed the Whaleys' claims by concluding that the underlying state law did not recognize a constitutionally protectable property right. In this regard the district court said:

> Michigan law is sufficiently different from Ohio law to render the result different from that in Brotherton. Michigan has expressly declined to recognize a property interest in the body of a deceased person, but rather, has carefully chosen to provide recovery in tort only when the right of burial of a deceased person without mutilation is violated.

<u>Id</u>. at 1116.

This time, the Sixth Circuit sidestepped the obvious underlying state law by declaring:

We believe the district court **mistakenly focused on the label** attached to the right rather than its substance. Although Michigan has repeatedly emphasized that 'recovery in such cases is not for the damage to the corpse as property, but damage to the next of kin by infringement of his right to have the body delivered to him for burial without mutilation,' this is not dispositive. <u>Id</u>. (Emphasis supplied.)

Nonetheless, the Sixth Circuit may have recognized that by making this sidestep it might create confusion under well-defined constitutional principles. The court, after ruling that Michigan law was "not dispositive," took pains to make this clarification:

> In reaching today's conclusion, we are mindful of the Supreme Court's admonition in Paul v. Davis, that not every tort by a state official is a constitutional violation, and that the Fourteenth Amendment is not a 'font of tort law to be superimposed upon whatever systems may already be administered by the State.' It is therefore important to note the limits of this decision. Although both Ohio and Michigan describe the cause of action for damaging a corpse as a personal injury tort, neither this case nor Brotherton suggest in any way that personal injury torts in general by state actors amount to constitutional violations. (Internal citations omitted) (Emphasis supplied.)

<u>Whaley</u> was decided in 1995. In April, 1999, a Michigan Court of Appeals decision was announced in <u>Dampier v. Wayne</u> County,592 N.W.2d 809 (Mich.App.1999). Like the dissent in <u>Brotherton</u>, the appellate court did not mince words. It said:

> However, we hold that plaintiffs' constitutional claim fails because Michigan does not recognize a property right in a dead body. As plainly stated by this Court, "there is no property right in the next of kin to a dead body." Furthermore, this Court in Tillman determined that the common-law right of burial of a deceased person without mutilation, discussed earlier, is not of constitutional dimension.

<u>Id</u>. at 817. The City acknowledges that the appellate court reversed that portion of the decision below that denied plaintiffs' motion to file a second amended complaint to assert a Section 1983

claim. <u>Id</u>. at 822. Such reversal, however, does not cure the Sixth Circuit's departure from required Section 1983 analysis and its choosing to ignore Ohio and Michigan state law.

C. WHILE THE ADDITIONAL FEDERAL DECISIONS ON WHICH PETITIONERS RELY ACKNOWLEDGED A QUASI-PROPERTY CONCEPT, NONE OF THE DECISIONS FOUND CONSTITUTIONALLY PROTECTED INTERESTS UNDER SECTION 1983.

Petitioners also argue that decisions in the Fifth and Eighth Circuits support their argument that this Court decided <u>Powell</u> without the benefit of federal decisions. Specifically, Petitioners direct this Court to: <u>Fuller v. Marx</u>, 724 F.2d 717 (8th Cir. 1984); and <u>Arnaud v. Odom</u>, 870 F.2d 304 (5th Cir. 1989). Curiously, neither of these decisions support Petitioners' argument.

As discussed above, this Court in <u>Powell</u> specifically cited the Eighth Circuit decision in <u>Lawyer</u>, <u>supra</u>, in its opinion. <u>Fuller</u> does not depart from the legal principles contained in <u>Lawyer</u>. The court explained that under Arkansas law, the next of kin does have a quasi-property right in a dead body. <u>Id</u>. at 719. The court continued:

> Any quasi-property rights Mrs. Fuller had in her husband's internal organs, if protected by the Constitution, were also protected by the Arkansas statute. Mrs. Fuller could have assured the return of the organs by complying with Arkansas law. The statute is a reasonable one providing simple and adequate

process. Thus, we find no unconstitutional invasion of any property right.

Id. The dismissal by the district court was affirmed.

While Petitioners' inclusion of the Fifth Circuit and Eighth Circuit decisions in its argument is curious, it is equally curious that the Petitioners did not cite this Court to the most recent decision from the Eighth Circuit dealing with this issue.

In late 1998, the Eighth Circuit issued its opinion in <u>Riley</u> <u>v. St. Louis County of Missouri</u>, 153 F.3d 627 (8th Cir. 1998). Sharon Riley brought Section 1983 claims against numerous defendants claiming that her deceased son was photographed while he lay in his coffin after the funeral and that the photographs were later displayed at a public gathering with the comment that her son's involvement in gang-related activities had caused his death. <u>Id</u>. at 629.

Dismissal of Riley's Section 1983 claim with prejudice was affirmed by the Eighth Circuit. <u>Id</u>. at 631, 632. In analyzing the Section 1983 relief sought, the court explained:

> Riley urges this court to recognize a constitutionally protected property interest based upon Missouri's common law right of sepulchre. However, 'Missouri courts have abandoned the early fiction that the cause of action for interference with the right of sepulchre rested on the infringement of a quasi property right of the nearest kin to the body.' Instead, Missouri courts base the cause of action on the mental anguish of the person claiming the right of sepulchre.

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